“Money assets of internally displaced persons as financial resources of
commercial banks”
Bogdan Derevyanko
https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7408-8285
https://publons.com/researcher/2454637/bogdan-derevyanko/

AUTHORS

Yevhen Zozulia
Liudmyla Rudenko

ARTICLE INFO

Bogdan Derevyanko, Yevhen Zozulia and Liudmyla Rudenko (2017). Money
assets of internally displaced persons as financial resources of commercial
banks. Banks and Bank Systems, 12(4), 211-217. doi:10.21511/bbs.12(41).2017.09

DOI

http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/bbs.12(4-1).2017.09

RELEASED ON

Wednesday, 20 December 2017

RECEIVED ON

Thursday, 16 November 2017

ACCEPTED ON

Thursday, 14 December 2017

LICENSE

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0
International License

JOURNAL

"Banks and Bank Systems"

ISSN PRINT

1816-7403

ISSN ONLINE

1991-7074

PUBLISHER

LLC “Consulting Publishing Company “Business Perspectives”

FOUNDER

LLC “Consulting Publishing Company “Business Perspectives”

NUMBER OF REFERENCES

NUMBER OF FIGURES

NUMBER OF TABLES

25

1

1

© The author(s) 2021. This publication is an open access article.

businessperspectives.org

Banks and Bank Systems, Volume 12, Issue 4, 2017

Bogdan Derevyanko (Ukraine), Yevhen Zozulia (Ukraine),
Liudmyla Rudenko (Ukraine)

BUSINESS PERSPECTIVES

LLC “СPС “Business Perspectives”
Hryhorii Skovoroda lane, 10, Sumy,
40022, Ukraine
www.businessperspectives.org

Received on: 16th of November, 2017
Accepted on: 14th of December, 2017

© Bogdan Derevyanko, Yevhen
Zozulia, Liudmyla Rudenko, 2017
Bogdan Derevyanko, Doctor of Law,
Professor, Donetsk Law Institute
of the Ministry of Internal Affairs
of Ukraine, Ukraine.
Yevhen Zozulia, Doctor of Law,
Assistant Professor, Donetsk Law
Institute of the Ministry of Internal
Affairs of Ukraine, Ukraine.
Liudmyla Rudenko, Ph.D. (Law),
Associate Professor, Sumy State
University, Educational and Research
Institute of Law, Ukraine.

This is an Open Access article,
distributed under the terms of the
Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International license,
which permits re-use, distribution,
and reproduction, provided the
materials aren’t used for commercial
purposes and the original work is
properly cited.

Money assets of internally
displaced persons
as financial resources
of commercial banks
Abstract
The article highlights the necessity of ensuring the interests of the state, commercial
banks and internally displaced persons. The analysis of the scientific literature has
shown that there is no the problem of this kind in the European countries. So wide
“hybrid warfare” in the world history is being waged on the territory of Ukraine. The
world has not encountered similar problems. The extensive research of the scientific
literature has shown that Ukrainian scientists attempted to solve the problems of bank
management, the market of deposit services, the relations of commercial banks with
the National Bank of Ukraine, the management of banking system and risks, etc. The
relations of three participants (internally displaced persons, commercial banks and
the National Bank of Ukraine) in the deposit market of Ukraine have not been under
study yet. This paper explores the ways in which it is possible to combine the interests
of the state, internally displaced persons and banks and find new sources of banks’
credit resources. The methodological approach taken in this study is a mixed methodology based on dialectical method, formal-and-logical method, logical-and-juridical
method and methods of analysis, synthesis, and comparison. The uniqueness of the
problem for the economy and social sector of the European countries is determined;
the ways of the state support of citizens-investors in their economy and national banks
are explored, and some important changes in the Ukrainian legislation are studied.
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INTRODUCTION
The banking sphere of Ukraine, corporate ownership and control over
it, the activity of any individual commercial bank are experiencing
probably the most difficult time for the latest period. On the one hand,
they are under the influence of external factors: world economic crisis,
in particular, the slowdown in productivity growth in the USA (according to Bloomberg agency with reference to the Department of
Commerce, the US GDP increased by 0.8% for the first quarter of 2016,
by 1.2% for the second quarter, while the analysts expected the US
GDP growth of 2.5%) (Trading Economics, 2016); record recession in
the economy of China (in the first quarter of 2016, the economy of
China demonstrated the growth of 6.7%, this is the lowest indicator
since the financial crisis of 2009; in 2015, the GDP of China was the
minimal for the last 25 years and made up 6.9%) (Reuters, 2016); the
decline of the GDP of the Russian Federation (according to German
Greph, the Head of Sberbank of the Russian Federation, hydrocarbon
era has passed and Russia has found itself among the “countries-downshifters”) (Sharojan, 2016); according to the state corporation of the
Russian Federation “Bank of the Development and Foreign Economic
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Affairs” (Vnesheconombank), GDP of the Russian Federation decreased by 1.1% in January–May 2016,
and the situation in the economy is much worse than it was expected (Mogilevskaya, 2016). On the
other hand, they are under the influence of internal factors – the loss of a significant amount of financial resources due to the reduction of investments at a time of “hybrid warfare”, the impoverishment of
citizens, the reduction of profits of most companies, bankruptcy and/or suspension of licenses of many
Ukrainian banks, and an increased distrust to the Ukrainian banks.
The existing problems in the country gave rise to the emergence of a new social group – the internally
displaced people (hereinafter – IDP) from the Crimea and Donbas. In difficult economic and political
situation, the state is trying to support them financially. The legislation, the practice of government bodies and financial institutions concerning the support of IDP are implemented with a negative result for
the state and the participants of financial markets.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

Motlhabane investigates the search incentive points
for clients, mainly university students. Credit
A considerable amount of literature was de- balances and continued savings need to be incenvoted to the activity of commercial banks and tivized with interest earnings (Motlhabane, 2017).
their financial resources in the form of deposits
of citizens, enterprises, institutions and orga- Kovalenko carried out an investigation of the
nizations; the interaction of commercial banks theoretical and methodological principles of the
with their direct regulator, the NBU, was under strategic management of the financial stability of
study; special attention was paid to the interaction the banking system. The monograph has revealed
of the NBU with the supreme executive authority the main approaches to the financial stability of
of Ukraine – the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine the banking system (Kovalenko, 2010). The author
(hereinafter – the CMU). These are the studies by has not investigated the relations between banks
Hubarieva et al. (2017), Zarytska (2009), Zatvarska and depositors.
(2004), Motlhabane (2017), Kovalenko (2010),
Plotnikova (2010), Starynskyi (2009), Fostiak Plotnikova devoted her work to the relations between
(2009), Drebot and Halko (2008), Khabiuk (2008), the NBU and commercial banks (Plotnikova, 2010).
The relations between banks and depositors have
Sheludko (2002) and others.
not been investigated in this work.
Hubarieva et al. (2017) investigate the relations of
banks with their clients to determine the priority Starynskyi has investigated the infringements
and their settlement in the banks’ activity
sources for attracting deposits.
(Starynskyi, 2009).
Zarytska determines the nature of the category
“banking capital”; she pays special attention to Fostiak (2009) and Sheludko (2002) have researched
the diversification process of banking capital and the overcoming of the problems in macroeconomics.
reveals the nature of the functioning of banking
capital (Zarytska, 2009, pp. 134-136). However, Drebot and Halko investigate the relations of banks
the relations between banks and their depositors with their clients, in particular with their depositors.
They suggest the system of integrated service that not
were not the subject of this study.
only provides the purchase of the deposit product, but
The dissertation of Zatvarska (2004) is the theoreti- also the purchase of other banking and nonbanking
cal and practical study of the role of banking system products (services) (Drebot & Halko, 2008, pp. 130in the period of shaping banking relations. It has de- 131). However, the relations between banks and IDP
termined the main criteria of the stable functioning were not investigated in this paper.
and sustainable development of the banking system.
The integration of the interests of the state, banks Khabiuk has examined the optimal level of the banking regulatory policy in Ukraine. Having reviewed
and depositors was not researched in the study.
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Figure 1. Foreign direct investments, USD billion (Ministry of Economic Development
and Trade of Ukraine, 2016)
the theoretical studies of national and foreign scientists, the recommendations of Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision, and regulatory framework of
Ukrainian bodies of banking supervision, the author
has suggested the ways for improvement of the banking regulator y policy in Ukraine (Khabiuk, 2008).

was used in this study. By employing these methods, we attempt to determine the uniqueness of
the problem for the economy and social sector
of Ukraine and European countries; to identify
the possibilities of the state to support citizensinvestors; to suggest legislative changes. Analogy
and the method of comparison were used to help
The suggested research problem is unique in the eco- identify how the state and the banks can support
nomic science and in the practice of Ukraine and citizens-investors.
other countries. Its overcoming can become the key
to the overcoming of similar problems that can arise
in the European and other countries. Deposits of IDP 3. MAIN RESEARCH RESULTS
should facilitate the stability of commercial banks
and protect their corporate ownership. However, the Figure 1 prepared by the Department of the invesnew ways of money raising, particularly deposits of tment mobilization of the Ministry of Economic
IDP, require a new research.
Development and Trade of Ukraine, illustrates the
dynamics of the direct foreign investments in the
The relations between financial markets and institu- Ukrainian economy and their outflow. Sharp detions, government bodies and IDP have not been in- terioration of both indicators in 2014 and 2015 is
vestigated in the scientific literature. The integration also shown in Figure 1.
of their interests requires a special research.
According to the National Bank of Ukraine (hereThe objective of this study is to identify and sug- inafter – the NBU), in January 2016, there were 117
gest the way of how to integrate the interests of the commercial banks in Ukraine, that is 46 banks less
state, IDP and banks.
than in the previous year (163 banks in January
2015). In April 2016, the number of Ukrainian
banks fell to 100 (National bank of Ukraine, 2016).
2. METHODS
In 2014, 33 banks were under reorganization, were
found insolvent, were liquidated or were managed
A combination of dialectical method, formal-and- by temporary administration (National Bank of
logical method, logical-and-juridical method and Ukraine, 2017). The present situation in the finantmethods of analysis, synthesis, and comparison cial market of Ukraine is the result of an inefficient
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Table 1. Key performance indicators of the Ukrainian banks in 2016 (UAH mln) (National Bank
of Ukraine, 2016)
No

Indicator

01.02.2016

01.03.2016

01.04.2016

01.05.2016

01.06.2016

01.07.2016

Funds of
economic entities
Including: time
deposits of
economic entities

325,988

336,999

332,961

336,682

338,017

347,898

97,134

97,261

92,296

97,956

95,629

94,933

2.2

Funds
of individuals

392,028

408,347

403,046

395,154

389,937

395,148

2.2.1

Including: time
deposits
of individuals

292,030

305,031

300,516

290,803

287,070

285,378

2.1
2.1.1

dren is favorable for the state (the number of children as of April 19, 2016 is 169,976); it will help to
overcome demographic problems in Ukraine. The
support of pensioners and disabled (it was officially registered 500,078 people among IDP (Ministry
of Internal Affairs of Ukraine, 2017)) is the test for
Money resources, the source of which are deposit the compliance with the European social and huagreements, are the resources used by the com- manistic standards.
mercial banks in lending, investment and other
operations that allow the banks to provide a wide To support IDP the CMU adopted Resolution
range of high-quality services. According to the No 505 of October 1, 2014 “On providing monthNBU, in 2016, the deposits of individuals exceed ly categorical grant to internally displaced people
to cover living expenses, including housing and
the deposits of economic entities (Table 1).
utilities” (Supreme Council of Ukraine, 2014).
However, the rates must be several times higher. Pursuant to this Resolution, an appropriate proThe shortage of funds in the commercial banks re- cedure of providing monthly categorical grant
duces the possibility of companies to obtain credit to IDP was approved. According to paragraph 3
resources needed for the development and main- of this procedure, the allowance for IDP is paid
tenance of business, the increase of capitalization at a rate of UAH 442 per one employable person,
UAH 884 per one incapacitated person (pensioner,
in Ukraine.
child), minimum living cost for disabled; the toAccording to various sources as of April 2016, it tal amount of allowance per family cannot exceed
was registered over a million of IDP in Ukraine. UAH 2,400 (Supreme Council of Ukraine, 2014).
To calculate an exact number is quite difficult as As a result, the amount of expenditure from the
it is changing due to the objective demograph- reserve fund of the state budget is significant. We
ic processes. The official data of the Ukrainian will know in a few years whether the state GDP
State Service on Emergencies indicates that as of growth can improve the situation. IDP can supApril 19, 2016, it was registered 1,320,501 IDP in port the economy of the state. However, it is necUkraine (Ministry of Internal Affairs of Ukraine, essary to change the legislation or the practice of
2017). The majority of them are the owners of its application.
corporate property, private property, and money
According to Clause 6 of the procedure, IDP canresources.
not receive monthly categorical grant if any of the
Their material security is a challenge for the weak family members has deposit banking account 25
economy of the state. The majority of them are times as much as the minimum subsistence inyoung people who have education and profession- come of employable person (Cabinet of Ministers of
al skills that were not in demand on the temporar- Ukraine, 2014). According to Article 7 of the Law of
ily occupied territories. It can be considered that Ukraine “On the State Budget of Ukraine for 2017”,
the influx of young professionals and their chil- the minimum subsistence income of employarisk management, an inadequate use of financial,
human and property resources by the financial institutions, in particular, by banks, insurance companies, credit unions, financial and credit organizations and others.
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ble person was UAH 1,684 in May 2016, and UAH
1,762 in December 2017 (The Law of Ukraine “On
the National budget of Ukraine for 2017”, 2016).
Therefore, in December 2017, the maximum sum on
a deposit account of one IDP should not have exceeded UAH 44,050 (just over 1,300 euro).

members has deposit banking account ten times as
much as the minimum subsistence income of employable person. According to Article 51 of the Law
of Ukraine “On the National Bank of Ukraine”, the
NBU has the right to present proposals concerning
the legislative regulation of issues to the President.
According to Article 52 of this law, the NBU has the
Thus, people who managed to sell their property on right to present proposals to the Cabinet of Ministers
the temporarily occupied territories cannot open a of Ukraine (The Law of Ukraine “On the National
deposit account in Ukrainian banks because they bank of Ukraine”, 1999). According to Article 93 of
will lose the right to receive monthly categorical the Constitution of Ukraine, the President and/or
grant, and commercial banks will lose the opportu- the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine have the right of
nity to raise money.
legislative initiative in Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine
(Constitution of Ukraine, 1996). The specialists from
The principles of “egalitarianism” are being applied the NBU should develop a new law. According to
towards IDP. Similar situation on the Ukrainian this law, the NBU should be the central body of the
lands was in the early 1930s at the time of the state power in the financial sector of Ukraine, the
forced collectivization of the peasantry. Farmers body that exercises management and control over
won if they had chosen consumption but not ac- the financial markets and institutions in Ukraine.
cumulation and development. Today, the state is The acts of the NBU should have priority over the
stimulating consumption of IDP and this situation acts of executive power or local self-government in
is destructive. The IDP with substantial monetary the financial and banking sector of Ukraine.
funds can pay their money into bank accounts and
cover state’s losses at the rate of UAH 442 per one This law should include the norms that provide some
employable person, UAH 884 per one incapacitat- benefits to citizens of Ukraine, foreigners, stateless
ed person or UAH 2,400 per family. However, this people, business entities and their associations if
situation is possible under the condition of stable they pay money into deposit or current accounts of
functioning of the state banking system. Taking Ukrainian commercial banks under the condition
into account the problems in the banking sector that this money comes from abroad and/or from the
of Ukraine, people prefer to keep spare money at zone that is not temporarily controlled by Ukraine.
home (as a rule, in foreign currency). In this case,
IDP will continue to get monthly categorical grants The examples of granting residence permit to
and keep their spare money at home. Although foreigners who invest in real property can be:
there is a risk of its loss because of violent or other Spain – the amount of investment is € 500, 000,
illegal actions of third persons (robbery, plunder, Andorra – the amount of investment is € 400,000,
theft, fraud, extortion and others).
Bulgaria – the amount of investment is € 300,000,
Latvia – the amount of investment is € 143,000 in
Restriction on the use of spare money of Ukrainian Riga and € 71,500 in other Latvian municipalities.
citizens is the mistake of the state regarding com- In Latvia, a five-year residence permit can be obmercial banks. Under the conditions of the financial tained after opening a deposit account in the Latvian
resources deficit, Ukrainian banks actively carry bank for € 286,000 (Mertsalova, 2013). Having
out transactions with small sums of money. You made investment in corporations registered on the
can pay the cost of provided services, transfer small territory of European and American countries, a forsums of money to another account in any branch eigner can receive more benefits.
of commercial bank. When exercising risk management and control over the activity of commer- The position of Ukraine with respect to IDP and
cial banks, the National Bank of Ukraine remains domestic commercial banks is unclear. Citizens of
surprisingly passive concerning the issue under Ukraine from the zone of the antiterrorist operation
study. The NBU can initiate the revocation of Clause or from the Autonomous Republic of Crimea lose
6 of the procedure concerning the refusal to pro- their right to get state assistance in case if they invest
vide monthly categorical grant if any of the family in real property or banking system of Ukraine.
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CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES
FOR THE RESEARCH
For the first time after World War II the European country has faced so large-scale problem of IDP. This
country is Ukraine. Ukrainian commercial banks have been experiencing the biggest financial problem
for 25 years of independence. The European countries are not immune to the problems of internal and
external migrants. European banks are also experiencing economic crises. How to support commercial
banks and internal or external migrants is the key issue for any European country. Some important
themes emerge from the studies discussed so far: the possibility to support investors into the state economy; money resources of IDP is an additional opportunity for commercial banks to raise money. These
resources will facilitate the level of corporate ownership of Ukrainian commercial banks and will make
their bankruptcy impossible.
The Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine should exclude the words “if any of the family members has deposit banking account ten times as much as minimum subsistence income of employable person” from
Clause 6 of the Procedure on providing monthly categorical grant to internally displaced people. The
acts of the executive power or local self-government in the financial and banking sector should comply
with the acts of the NBU. The development and proposal of additions to Article 100 of the Constitution
of Ukraine regarding the competence of the NBU requires complex research in the economic and legal
sectors. Future studies on the current subject are, therefore, recommended.

REFERENCES
1.

2.

3.

4.

Constitution of Ukraine (1996).
Конституція України: прийнята
на п’ятій сесії Верховної Ради
України 28 червня 1996 року
[Konstytutsiia Ukrainy: pryiniata
na piatii sesii Verkhovnoi Rady
Ukrainy 28 chervnia 1996 roku
No 254k/96-VR]. Retrieved
from http://zakon2.rada.gov.ua/
laws/show/254%D0%BA/96%D0%B2%D1%80
Drebot, N. P., & Halko, O. R. (2008).
Стратегія банківської установи
на ринке депозитних послуг
[Stratehiia bankivskoi ustanovy na
rynku depozytnyh posluh]. Rehionalna ekonomika, 4, 125-131.
Fostiak, V. V. (2009). Роль
банківського капіталу в
забезпеченні розвитку
національної економіки [Rol
bankivskoho kapitalu v zabezpechenni rozvytku natsionalnoi
ekonomiky]. Rehionalna ekonomika,
3, 123-128.
Hubarieva, I., Lebid, O., & Zuieva, O.
(2017). Determining the priority
sources for attracting deposits
in the formation of the financial
potential of banks. Banks and Bank
Systems, 12(3), 215-227.

216

5.

6.

7.

Khabiuk, O. (2008). Банківське
регулювання та нагляд через
призму рекомендацій Базельського комітету [Bankivske
rehuliuvannia ta nahliad cherez
pryzmu rekomendatsii Bazelskoho
komitetu] (260 p). Ivano-Frankivsk:
OIPPO; Sniatyn: Prut Prynt.
Kovalenko, V. V. (2010).
Стратегічне управління
фінансовою стійкістю
банківської системи: методологія
і практика [Stratehichne upravlinnia finansovoiu stiikistiu bankivskoi
systemy: metodolohiia i praktyka]
(228 p). Sumy: UABS NBU.
Mertsalova, A. (2013). Золотая
виза. 6 стран, дающих вид на
жительство при покупке недвижимости [Zolotaya viza. 6 stran,
dayushchikh vid na zhitelstvo pri
pokupke nedvizhimosti]. Retrieved
from http://www.aif.ru/realty/
price/935455

8.

Ministry of Economic Development and Trade of Ukraine (2016).
Official website. Retrieved from

9.

Ministry of Internal Affairs of
Ukraine (2017). Official website.
Retrieved from http://mvs.gov.ua/
ua/news/2162_Regionalnimi_shta-

bami_DSNS_zarestrovano_
ponad_1_mln_32_tis_vnutrishno_
peremishchenih_osib_FOTO.htm
10. Mogilevskaya, A. (2016). Майские данные по ВВП оказались
“сильно хуже ожиданий” [Maiskiye dannyye po VVP okazalis “silno
khuzhe ozhidaniy”]. Retrieved from
http://www.rbc.ru/economics/27/06
/2016/57715c7f9a794729713a373c
11. Motlhabane, K. L. (2017). The
impact of maintenance fees on
students’ willingness to maintain
bank accounts and establish
credit profile. Banks and Bank
Systems, 12(3), 283-297.
12. National bank of Ukraine (2016).
Official internet-agency. Retrieved
from https://bank.gov.ua/control/
uk/publish/article?art_id=15392389
13. National Bank of Ukraine
(2016). Official internet-agency.
Retrieved from https://bank.gov.
ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_
id=34661442&cat_id=34798593
14. Plotnikova, M. V. (2010).
Нормативно-правові акти
Національного банку України
як форма державного
регулювання діяльності банків

Banks and Bank Systems, Volume 12, Issue 4, 2017

[Normatyvno-pravovi akty Natsionalnoho banku Ukrainy yak
forma derzhavnoho rehuliuvannia
diialnosti bankiv]. Pravovyi visnyk
Ukrainskoi akademii bankivskoi
spravy. 1, 31-35.
15. Reuters (2016). Retrieved from
https://www.reuters.com/article/
us-china-economy/china-secondquarter-gdp-growth-likely-tocool-as-beijing-targets-propertydebt-risks-idUSKBN1A10ZD
16. Sharojan, S. (2016). Греф
причислил Россию к “странамдауншифтерам” [Gref prichislil
Rossiyu k “stranam-daunshifteram”]. Retrieved from http://www.
rbc.ru/economics/15/01/2016/569
8b96c9a7947773e662209
17. Sheludko, N. M. (2002).
Управління фінансовою
стійкістю комерційних банків
[Upravlinnia finansovoiu stiikistiu
komertsiinykh bankiv] (228 p.).
Kyiv: Institute for Economics and

Forecasting of National Academy of
Sciences of Ukraine.
18. Starynskyi, M. V. (2009). Банки
як учасники адміністративноделіктних відносин у сфері
банківської діяльності [Banky
yak uchasnyky administratyvnodeliktnykh vidnosyn u sferi
bankivskoi diialnosti] (208 p).
Sumy: Mriia TOV.
19. Supreme Council of Ukraine
(2014). Official website. Retrieved
from http://zakon3.rada.gov.ua/
laws/show/505-2014-%D0%BF
20. The Law of Ukraine “On the
National Bank of Ukraine” dated
20.05.1999 No 679-XIV. Retrieved
from http://zakon0.rada.gov.ua/
laws/show/679-14
21. The Law of Ukraine “On the National budget of Ukraine” for 2017
dated 21.12.2016 No 1801-VIII.
Retrieved from http://zakon2.rada.
gov.ua/laws/show/1801-19

22. The National Bank of Ukraine
(2017). Official internet-agency.
Retrieved from https://bank.gov.
ua/control/uk/publish/article?art_
id=75535
23. Trading Economics (2016).
Retrieved from https://tradingeconomics.com/united-states/gdp
24. Zarytska, I. A. (2009).
Особливості функціонування
банківського капіталу в
глобальному економічному
просторі [Osoblyvosti funktsionuvannia bankivskoho kapitalu
v hlobalnomu ekonomichnomu
prostori]. Aktualni problemy
ekonomiky, 2, 129-143.
25. Zatvarska, O. O. (2004).
Банківська система України та
основні напрями її розвитку
[Bankivska systema Ukrainy ta
osnovni napriamy yii rozvytku].
Extended abstract of candidate’s
thesis. 19 p.

217

